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in a corporation is owned by citizens of 
the United States if: 

(i) Title to the majority of the stock 
in the corporation is vested in citizens 
of the United States free from any 
trust or fiduciary obligation in favor of 
a person not a citizen of the United 
States; 

(ii) The majority of the voting power 
in the corporation is vested in citizens 
of the United States; 

(iii) There is no contract or under-
standing by which the majority of the 
voting power in the corporation may be 
exercised, directly or indirectly, in be-
half of a person not a citizen of the 
United States; and 

(iv) There is no other means by which 
control of the corporation is given to 
or permitted to be exercised by a per-
son not a citizen of the United States. 

(2) Furthermore, a corporation is 
only a citizen of the United States if: 

(i) It is incorporated under the laws 
of the United States or a State; 

(ii) Its chief executive officer, by 
whatever title, and the chairman of its 
board of directors are citizens of the 
United States; and 

(iii) No more of its directors are non-
citizens than a minority of the number 
necessary to constitute a quorum. 

(e) Complainant means the seaman 
who filed a SPA whistleblower com-
plaint or on whose behalf a complaint 
was filed. 

(f) Cooperated means any assistance 
or participation with an investigation, 
at any stage of the investigation, and 
regardless of the outcome of the inves-
tigation. 

(g) Maritime safety law or regulation 
includes any statute or regulation re-
garding health or safety that applies to 
any person or equipment on a vessel. 

(h) Notify or notified includes any oral 
or written communications. 

(i) OSHA means the Occupational 
Safety and Health Administration of 
the United States Department of 
Labor. 

(j) Person means one or more individ-
uals or other entities, including but 
not limited to corporations, companies, 
associations, firms, partnerships, soci-
eties, and joint stock companies. 

(k) Report or reported means any oral 
or written communications. 

(l) Respondent means the person al-
leged to have violated 46 U.S.C. 2114. 

(m) Seaman means any individual en-
gaged or employed in any capacity on 
board a vessel owned by a citizen of the 
United States. The term includes an in-
dividual formerly performing the work 
described above or an applicant for 
such work. 

(n) Secretary means the Secretary of 
Labor or persons to whom authority 
under the Act has been delegated. 

(o) State means a State of the United 
States, the District of Columbia, Puer-
to Rico, the Virgin Islands, American 
Samoa, Guam, and the Northern Mar-
iana Islands. 

(p) Vessel means every description of 
watercraft or other artificial contriv-
ance used, or capable of being used, as 
a means of transportation on water. 

(q) Vessel owner includes all of the 
agents of the owner, including the ves-
sel’s master. 

(r) Any future amendments to SPA 
that affect the definition of a term or 
terms listed in this section will apply 
in lieu of the definition stated herein. 

§ 1986.102 Obligations and prohibited 
acts. 

(a) A person may not retaliate 
against any seaman because the sea-
man: 

(1) In good faith reported or is about 
to report to the Coast Guard or other 
appropriate Federal agency or depart-
ment that the seaman believes that a 
violation of a maritime safety law or 
regulation prescribed under that law or 
regulation has occurred; 

(2) Refused to perform duties ordered 
by the seaman’s employer because the 
seaman has a reasonable apprehension 
or expectation that performing such 
duties would result in serious injury to 
the seaman, other seamen, or the pub-
lic; 

(3) Testified in a proceeding brought 
to enforce a maritime safety law or 
regulation prescribed under that law; 

(4) Notified, or attempted to notify, 
the vessel owner or the Secretary of 
the department in which the Coast 
Guard is operating of a work-related 
personal injury or work-related illness 
of a seaman; 
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(5) Cooperated with a safety inves-
tigation by the Secretary of the de-
partment in which the Coast Guard is 
operating or the National Transpor-
tation Safety Board; 

(6) Furnished information to the Sec-
retary of the department in which the 
Coast Guard is operating, the National 
Transportation Safety Board, or any 
other public official as to the facts re-
lating to any marine casualty resulting 
in injury or death to an individual or 
damage to property occurring in con-
nection with vessel transportation; or 

(7) Accurately reported hours of duty 
under part A of subtitle II of title 46 of 
the United States Code. 

(b) Retaliation means any discrimi-
nation against a seaman including, but 
is not limited to, discharging, demot-
ing, suspending, harassing, intimi-
dating, threatening, restraining, coerc-
ing, blacklisting, or disciplining a sea-
man. 

(c) For purposes of paragraph (a)(2) of 
this section, the circumstances causing 
a seaman’s apprehension of serious in-
jury must be of such a nature that a 
reasonable person, under similar cir-
cumstances, would conclude that there 
is a real danger of an injury or serious 
impairment of health resulting from 
the performance of duties as ordered by 
the seaman’s employer. To qualify for 
protection based on activity described 
in paragraph (a)(2) of this section, the 
seaman must have sought from the em-
ployer, and been unable to obtain, cor-
rection of the unsafe condition. Any 
seaman who requests such a correction 
shall be protected against retaliation 
because of the request. 

§ 1986.103 Filing of retaliation com-
plaints. 

(a) Who may file. A seaman who be-
lieves that he or she has been retali-
ated against by a person in violation of 
SPA may file, or have filed by any per-
son on the seaman’s behalf, a com-
plaint alleging such retaliation. 

(b) Nature of filing. No particular 
form of complaint is required. A com-
plaint may be filed orally or in writing. 
Oral complaints will be reduced to 
writing by OSHA. If a seaman is unable 
to file a complaint in English, OSHA 
will accept the complaint in any other 
language. 

(c) Place of filing. The complaint 
should be filed with the OSHA office re-
sponsible for enforcement activities in 
the geographical area where the sea-
man resides or was employed, but may 
be filed with any OSHA officer or em-
ployee. Addresses and telephone num-
bers for these officials are set forth in 
local directories and at the following 
Internet address: http://www.osha.gov. 

(d) Time for filing. Not later than 180 
days after an alleged violation occurs, 
a seaman who believes that he or she 
has been retaliated against in violation 
of SPA may file, or have filed by any 
person on his or her behalf, a com-
plaint alleging such retaliation. The 
date of the postmark, facsimile trans-
mittal, electronic communication 
transmittal, telephone call, hand-deliv-
ery, delivery to a third-party commer-
cial carrier, or in-person filing at an 
OSHA office will be considered the date 
of filing. The time for filing a com-
plaint may be tolled for reasons war-
ranted by applicable case law. 

(e) Relationship to section 11(c) com-
plaints. A complaint filed under SPA 
alleging facts that would also con-
stitute a violation of section 11(c) of 
the Occupational Safety and Health 
Act, 29 U.S.C. 660(c), will be deemed to 
be a complaint under both SPA and 
section 11(c). Similarly, a complaint 
filed under section 11(c) that alleges 
facts that would also constitute a vio-
lation of SPA will be deemed to be a 
complaint filed under both SPA and 
section 11(c). Normal procedures and 
timeliness requirements under the re-
spective statutes and regulations will 
be followed. 

§ 1986.104 Investigation. 
(a) Upon receipt of a complaint in the 

investigating office, the Assistant Sec-
retary will notify the respondent of the 
filing of the complaint by providing 
the respondent with a copy of the com-
plaint, redacted in accordance with the 
Privacy Act of 1974, 5 U.S.C. 552a, and 
other applicable confidentiality laws. 
The Assistant Secretary will also no-
tify the respondent of the respondent’s 
rights under paragraphs (b) and (f) of 
this section. The Assistant Secretary 
will provide a copy of the unredacted 
complaint to the complainant (or com-
plainant’s legal counsel, if complainant 
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